6-11-59

017 FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 26 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Clerk

DONALD G. RAY, LOUIS P. KALIVODA, SYBIL C. MOBLEY, DAVID W. BOWERS, and CLARENCE FORT,

CASE NO: 94,653

Appellants,

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT

By,

vs.

2

ł

۳.

SANDRA B. MORTHAM, Florida Secretary of State, in her capacity as Florida's Chief Elections NO. 98-1024 Officer,

Appellee.

NO. 98-4705

CIRCUIT COURT CASE

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

Robert J. Boyd, Esquire Florida Bar ID No. 793086 ¹ Laura Boyd Pearce, Esquire Florida Bar ID No. 698910 Macfarlane Ferguson & McMullen 106 East College Ave., Suite 900 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (850) 681-7381

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Plaintiffs in the case below Donald G. Ray, Louis P. Kalivoda, Sybil C. Mobley, David W. Bowers and Clarence Fort, shall be referred to herein as the Appellants. The Defendant in the case below, Sandra B. Mortham, Florida Secretary of State in her capacity as Florida Chief Elections Officer, shall be referred to herein as Appellee or Florida Secretary of State.

Cites to the Record on Appeal shall appear herein as (R-).

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

1

The case underlying this appeal was initiated by the Appellants filing a Complaint (R-1) with the Second Judicial Circuit Court in and for Leon County on February 24, 1998. The Complaint sought declaratory and injunctive relief by requesting the circuit court to declare unconstitutional the language of Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution, which imposes term limits on Florida representatives and Florida senators, and to enjoin the enforcement of such language. The Appellee filed a Motion to Dismiss (R-12) which was granted by the circuit court along with leave for the Appellants to amend (R-158). Thus, the Appellants filed an Amended Complaint on August 11, 1998 (R-160).

Thereafter, the Appellee filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on August 12, 1998 (R-170), and the Appellants filed a Response and Counter-Motion for Summary Judgment on November 2, 1998 (R-193). On November 17, 1998, the circuit court entered a Final Summary Judgment (R-224) in favor of the Appellee and denied the Appellants' Counter-Motion for Summary Judgment. The Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal with the First District Court of Appeal on December 15, 1998 (R-229), and then, on December 22, 1998, the Appellants filed, with the First District Court of Appeal, a Suggestion that the Order to be Reviewed be Certified to the Florida Supreme Court.

On January 6, 1999, the First District Court of Appeal entered an Order granting the Appellants' Suggestion stating that the "order of the trial court is hereby certified to the Supreme Court as a matter of great public importance." On January 28, 1999, this Court accepted jurisdiction of the case at hand as "a question of great public importance requiring immediate resolution by this Court."

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The language of Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution which imposes term limits on Florida representatives and Florida senators cannot be severed from the unconstitutional language in that same section which limits the terms of U.S. Representatives and U.S. Senators from Florida, and therefore, the former language cannot be permitted to stand and cannot be enforced. The U.S. Supreme Court in 1995, held that term limits imposed upon Congressional office holders are unconstitutional. Thus, in upholding the decision of the U.S. Supreme Court, this Court must apply the severability test to Florida's constitutional term limits provision to determine whether the remainder of the language in that provision can stand and can be enforced in light of the fact that some of the language is unconstitutional.

In applying the severability test to the language of Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution, this Court must find that the purpose or intent of the language at issue cannot be accomplished when the unconstitutional language is stricken. The voters of the State of Florida, who adopted the language at issue by initiative petition, voted for term limits for both state and federal office holders as part of a single, dominant plan and scheme. By striking the language regarding term limits for federal office holders (U. S. Representatives and U. S. Senators from Florida), the intent of the voters and their single, dominant plan and scheme cannot be carried out. In addition, it cannot be said, nor has the Appellee proven, that the voters still would have voted for term limits on Florida representatives and Florida senators had they known that term limits on U. S. Representatives and U. S. Senators would be declared unconstitutional. Thus, two conditions of the severability test cannot be met, and therefore, this Court cannot sever the language at issue and must hold that the language of Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution which imposes term limits on Florida representatives and Florida senators cannot be permitted to stand and cannot be enforced.

1

The language of Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution also violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the U. S. Constitution by inequitably impacting rural voters as compared to urban voters. Florida senators representing rural areas of Florida are often the sole senate representatives of entire counties. By subjecting these senators to term limits, these rural counties will inevitably acquire new and inexperienced senate representation every eight years. On the other hand, more populous urban counties often have more than one and even several senators who may represent that county by representing different areas within that county. When these senators are subjected to term limits, there will inevitably be other experienced senators with institutional knowledge from the same county who will still be able to effectively represent the overall interests of the county with as much seniority, and therefore influence, as senators from other counties not being term limited, particularly in the area of statewide appropriations which are made in the legislature on a per county basis.

Therefore, because Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution is applied to all senate districts within Florida, citizens and voters of rural districts are not affected and impacted by its application on an <u>equal</u> basis as compared with citizens and voters of the urban counties. Equal protection requires that the votes of citizens be of equal weight and not reduced in valued based on where the voter resides. Overweighting or diluting a citizens right to vote cannot be compromised, infringed upon, or given away even by a majority vote of the people. Thus, the language of Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution applies in an unequal manner to dilute, debase and restrict the right to vote of residents of rural counties in Florida and therefore, it violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the U. S. Constitution.

Finally, the Appellants' right to vote and the weight of their vote is further unequally diluted in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the U. S. Constitution by the fact that in application of the term limit language in 2000, senators in Florida's odd numbered districts will have served eight consecutive years while senators in Florida's even numbered districts will serve out their term until 2002, thus those senators will have served ten consecutive years. The Appellants' vote is <u>not</u> of equal weight and has been reduced in value in comparison to the votes of citizens in even numbered districts who will have the advantage of representation by an experienced senator with seniority and institutional knowledge (especially in the legislative appropriation process) for an <u>extra</u> two years due to Florida's staggered terms of office for senators.

ĩ

In considering an equal protection challenge to Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution which abridges a fundamental right, this Court must use Florida's strict scrutiny test because fundamental rights to which strict scrutiny applies includes the right to vote. This strict scrutiny test employed in equal protection analysis requires determination of whether the government's interest is substantial and compelling, and whether the means adopted to achieve the legislative goal or interest are necessarily and precisely drawn and advance this compelling interest through the least intrusive means. However, the term limit language miserably fails Florida's strict scrutiny test. There are relatively simple and less intrusive ways to achieve the objectives and intentions of the term limit language and it is questionable whether the term limit language will even serve the compelling interest as stated by the initiative petition. But even so, it cannot be said that this language is narrowly tailored or that it advances the state interest through the least

intrusive means and thus this Court should declare the language in question invalid and of no force and effect.

ž

ARGUMENT

I. THE LANGUAGE IN ARTICLE VI, SECTION 4(b) OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION WHICH LIMITS THE TERMS OF FLORIDA REPRESENTATIVES AND FLORIDA SENATORS IS NOT SEVERABLE FROM THE UNCONSTITUTIONAL LANGUAGE IN THAT SAME SECTION WHICH LIMITS THE CONGRESSIONAL OFFICE TERMS OF HOLDERS AND THEREFORE, TERM LIMITS IMPOSED UPON FLORIDA REPRESENTATIVES AND FLORIDA SENATORS CANNOT BE PERMITTED TO STAND AND CANNOT BE ENFORCED.

Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution provides:

(b) No person may appear on the ballot for re-election to any of the following offices:

- (1) Florida representative
- (2) Florida senator
- (3) Florida Lieutenant Governor
- (4) any office of the Florida cabinet
- (5) U. S. Representative from Florida, or
- (6) U. S. Senator from Florida

if, by the end of the current term of office, the person will have served, (or, but for resignation, would have served) in that office for eight consecutive years.

This language of the Florida Constitution was adopted by the voters of the State of

Florida by constitutional initiative petition in 1992. Later, in 1995, the United States

Supreme Court, in the case of U.S. Term Limits, Inc. v. Thornton, 514 U.S. 779

(1995), declared that state-imposed term limits on candidates for re-election to the U.

S. House and U. S. Senate are unconstitutional because they violate the Qualifications

Clause of the Tenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Therefore, as a matter of

law, the language in Florida's Constitution which imposes term limits on such congressional office holders is unconstitutional and cannot be enforced.

As a result of the ruling in U.S. Term Limits, Inc. v. Thornton, the language in Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution which purports to limit the terms of Florida representatives and Florida senators also is unconstitutional and cannot be enforced, because it cannot be severed from the language which limits the terms of U. S. Representatives and U. S. Senators from Florida.

In the case below, the Appellee has argued that in order to declare a provision of the Florida Constitution unconstitutional, the Court must find that the subject provision violates the U. S. Constitution (R-179). The Appellants agree with this argument and in fact, the Appellants contend that by following the U. S. Supreme Court's ruling in <u>U. S. Term Limits, Inc. v. Thornton</u>, this Court must find that the language in Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution, limiting the terms of U. S. Representatives and U. S. Senators from Florida is unconstitutional. Therefore, the question which remains is how much of the language in Article VI, Section 4(b) must be stricken or declared null and void and unenforceable due to the blatant unconstitutionality of at least some of the language in that Section. In order to answer this question, the Court must consider the doctrine of severability.

Although the doctrine of severability has not been applied in Florida to a

10

Florida constitutional provision, it has been applied, in numerous cases, to acts of the Florida Legislature. See, Smith v. Department of Insurance, 507 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1987); and Cramp v. Board of Public Instruction of Orange County, 137 So.2d 828 (Fla. 1962). Moreover, the doctrine of severability has been applied to constitutional provisions in many other states. See, Davis v. Synhorst, 225 F.Supp. 689 (S.D. Iowa 1964), supplemented by 231 F.Supp. 540 (S.D. Iowa 1964) and judgment affirmed. 378 U.S. 565 (1964); Long v. Avery, 251 F.Supp. 541 (D.Kan. 1965); Faubus v. Kinney, 239 Ark. 443, 389 S.W.2d 887 (1965); Kruidenier v. McCulloch, 258 Iowa 1121, 142 N.W.2d 355 (1966), cert. denied, 385 U.S. 851 (1966) and opinion supplemented, 261 Iowa 1309, 158 N.W.2d 170 (1968); Carpenter v. State, 179 Neb. 628, 139 N.W.2d 541 (1966); and McWhirter v. Bridges, 249 S.C. 613, 155 S.E.2d 897 (1967). In fact, there are at least two cases where the severability doctrine has been applied by the courts in considering whether any portion or language of a state's constitutional amendment which provides term limits for both state and federal elected officials is valid and enforceable. See, Duggan v. Beerman, 249 Neb. 411, 544 N.W. 2d 68 (1996); and U.S. Term Limits, Inc. v. Hill, 316 Ark. 251, 872 S.W.2d 349 (1994), cert granted, 512 U.S. 1218 (1994), and judgment affirmed, 514 U.S. 779 (1995). Furthermore, it appears that the framers of numerous Florida constitutional amendments and this Court have anticipated severability arguments with regard to

Florida constitutional amendments because many initiative petitions for such amendments and their ballot summaries contain severability provisions. Therefore, it seems appropriate for this Court to apply the doctrine of severability to the Florida constitutional provision at issue here.

In applying the doctrine of severability to the constitutional amendment language embodied in Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution, the Court must consider the following test:

When a part of a statute is declared unconstitutional, the remainder of the act will be permitted to stand provided: (1) the unconstitutional provisions can be separated from the remaining valid provisions, (2) the legislative purpose expressed in the valid provisions can be accomplished independently of those which are void, (3) the good and the bad features are not so inseparable in substance that it can be said that the Legislature would have passed one without the other and, (4) an act complete in itself remains after the invalid provisions are stricken. (Emphasis added).

See, Smith v. Department of Insurance, supra. Of course, the test quoted above is written to apply to a review of a statute enacted by the Legislature, and in the instant case, the people or voters of the State of Florida are the enacting entity, not the Legislature.

With respect to the language set forth in Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution, it appears that pursuant to the above-mentioned severability test, conditions (1) and (4) can be met; that is, the unconstitutional language probably can be separated from the remaining language and upon separation an act (or provision) complete in itself still remains. However, the Appellants contend that conditions (2) and (3) above cannot be met and therefore, the unconstitutional language and the remaining language of Article VI, Section 4(b) are not severable.

Condition number (2) deals with the purpose or intent of the enactment. In the instant case, the purpose of the term limits language set forth in Article VI, Section 4(b) of the Florida Constitution can be found in the language of the initiative petition which was the vehicle for the adoption of the constitutional amendment language. The initiative petition stated: "The people of Florida believe that politicians who remain in office too long may become preoccupied with re-election and become beholden to special interests and bureaucrats, and that present limitations on the President of the United States and Governor of Florida show that term limitations can increase voter participation, citizen involvement in government, and the number of persons who will run for elective office." See, Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General - Limited Political Terms in Certain Elective Offices, 592 So.2d 225, 226 (Fla. 1991). Because of the above reference to the President of the United States and the Governor of Florida and because of the specific office-holders referenced in the constitutional amendment language, it is clear that the people of Florida intended to impose term limits on politicians both at the state and federal levels. Moreover, the

Florida Supreme Court agreed in its Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General, supra, that the language of the constitutional amendment has a "logical and natural oneness of purpose" and that it "may be logically viewed as having a natural relation and connection as component parts or aspects of a single dominant plan or scheme." Id. at 227. Thus, the people intended, as part of a single dominant plan or scheme, to impose term limits on both U. S. Representatives and U. S. Senators from Florida and state representatives and senators. This intent cannot continue to be carried out by removing or not enforcing the language pertaining to federal office holders and leaving only the language pertaining to state office-holders. Therefore, condition number (2) of the severability test which provides that the legislative purpose expressed in the valid provisions can be accomplished independently of those which are void, cannot be met.

Condition number (3) deals with whether it can be said that the people would have voted for the subject constitutional amendment even if the unconstitutional language had been removed from the amendment. This, the Appellee must prove in order to successfully argue that the provisions can be severed, and of course, the Appellee cannot and has not proven such. In fact, as previously stated, it is clear that the people intended to limit terms for <u>both</u> state and federal office-holders; that is, Florida representatives and senators and U. S. Representatives and Senators from Florida. Moreover, the Florida Supreme Court found that the constitutional amendment language regarding term limits comprises a <u>single dominant plan</u>, even though such language limits terms for office holders in different branches of government. Thus, it cannot be said that had the people known that term limits for U. S. Representatives and U. S. Senators were or would become unconstitutional, they still would have voted for term limits for state representatives and senators. This was not their intent, nor part of the single dominant plan. In fact, it is more likely that the people would <u>not</u> have voted for term limits for state representatives and senators had they known of the unconstitutionality of term limits for U. S. Representatives and senators and they known of the unconstitutionality of term limits for U. S. Representatives and senators had they known of the unconstitutionality of term limits for U. S. Representatives and they known of the unconstitutionality of term limits for U. S. Representatives and senators had they known of the unconstitutionality of term limits for U. S. Representatives and senators had they known of the unconstitutionality of term limits for U. S. Representatives and senators had they known of the unconstitutionality of term limits for U. S. Representatives and the people would <u>not have voted</u> for term limits for U. S. Representatives and senators had they known of the unconstitutionality of term limits for U. S. Representatives and they known of the unconstitutionality of term limits for U. S. Representatives and U. S. Senators. Thus, condition number (3) of the severability test cannot be met.

=

The circuit court in the case below held that the Florida Supreme Court found the constitutional amendment language regarding term limits to be clear and unambiguous, and therefore, the Appellants could not raise an issue of voter confusion (R-225). However, the Florida Supreme Court simply found the ballot title and summary language to be clear and unambiguous, not all of the language comprising the constitutional amendment. See, Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General at p. 228. Moreover, the Appellants do not claim that the voters were confused when they voted for this constitutional amendment. In fact, the Appellants claim that the voters knew exactly what they were voting for - term limits for both state representatives and senators and U. S. Representatives and U. S. Senators from Florida, as part of one single dominant plan and scheme. The Appellants also contend that in accordance with the voters' knowledge of the amendment language and their intent, it cannot be said that the voters would have voted for term limits on state representatives and senators without also being able to vote for and impose term limits on U. S. Representatives and U. S. Senators from Florida. For these reasons, condition number (3) of the severability test cannot be met.

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