ORIGINAL

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 8 1999

CLERK SUPPLEMIT COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD G. RAY, LOUIS P. KALIVODA, SYBIL C. MOBLEY, DAVID W. BOWERS, and CLARENCE FORT,

CASE NO. 94,653

Appellants,

VS.

KATHERINE HARRIS, Florida Secretary of State, in her official capacity as Florida's Chief Elections Officer,

Appellee.

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT CASE NO. 98-4705

CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO. 98-1024

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

George Waas Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 129967 PL-01 The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida 31399-1050 (850) 414-3662 (850) 488-4872 (fax) Counsel for Appellee

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

Dutmer v. City of San Antonio, 937 F.Supp. 587, 592 (W.D.Tex.1996) (under term limits, "no identifiable group ... is adversely or uniquely impacted").

Furthermore, the plaintiffs have many other avenues to express their preferences. They can, in fact, vote for experience. They can vote for the term-restricted candidates for other offices. For the legislature, they can vote for former city councilmen, legislative aides, and many other candidates with political experience. Indeed, the plaintiffs may elect anyone who has served less than three terms in the state house. Citizens for Legislative Choice, 993 F.Supp. at 1045-46. Moreover, nothing prevents them from overturning § 54 through Michigan's constitutional processes, and thereby convincing others that experience counts.

Although the plaintiffs contend that § 54 burdens them severely, their theory proves too much. They argue that lifetime term limits burden an identifiable group of voters, those who favor candidates with significant legislative experience, for the benefit of another group of voters, those who favor novice legislators. To accept their view, however, every restriction would burden some identifiable group. For example, age ceilings permanently bar voters from electing another class of candidates, those with significant life experience. Under the plaintiffs' theory, voters who favor significant life experience are an identifiable group of voters, and age ceilings permanently, and unfairly, burden their voting choices.

While the plaintiffs concede that a state may impose age limits, they fail to persuasively distinguish age limits from term limits. They merely brand age limits "reasonable" and term limits "unreasonable."

For example, they assert that "[a] reasonable qualification as to age, citizenship, [and] residency, ... precisely because it is reasonable, does not impose a 'severe restriction.' " Next, they point out that states have traditionally imposed age and the other "reasonable" qualifications. While we applaud this nod to tradition, term limits also enjoy a historical pedigree. See Bates v. Jones, 958 F.Supp. 1446, 1453-54 (N.D.Cal.1997) (noting Pennsylvania enacted consecutive term limits soon after independence), rev'd, 131 F.3d at 847. Finally, Judge Fletcher distinguishes another type of age restriction, minimum age requirements, by arguing that they "help to ensure that a candidate can fully appreciate ... the most basic interests of his constituency." Bates II, 131 F.3d at 871. We see no such clear distinction. Term limits, like minimum age requirements, may help ensure that a candidate will "fully appreciate" his constituency's basic interests.

Apart from its overly broad sweep, the plaintiffs' argument deteriorates even on its own terms. On the one hand, they complain that lifetime term limits prevent them from electing an entire class of candidates, those with experience. They then offer consecutive term limits as a more reasonable alternative. Consecutive term limits, however, would prevent voters from electing another class of candidates, those with recent experience. The plaintiffs do not explain why a state may restrict candidates based on recent experience but not overall experience.

We also reject the plaintiffs' final argument. They contend that § 54 burdens another identifiable group, racial minorities and inner-city residents. They note that, in all of the districts with a majority of black voters, a majority of voters voted against the amendment. They also note that many representatives from these districts hold important leadership positions. Based on these facts, the plaintiffs hypothesize that § 54 disproportionately burdens blacks, because blacks must rely on experienced legislators to garner support for their policy preferences.

None of this evidence supports the plaintiffs' theory. They do not allege that § 54 was intended to hurt minorities. They present neither empirical nor anecdotal evidence that term limits hurt minority On the contrary, § 54 burdens white voters. suburban voters in the same manner as black inner-city voters. The fact that many blacks voted against § 54 proves neither discriminatory intent nor impact. Nothing indicates that term limits will prevent their future representatives from obtaining leadership positions, or that current legislative leaders obtained their positions solely through longevity. Finally, some authority indicates that term limits may help minority interests: "[m]eretricious policies which sacrifice well-being of economic, social. racial. geographical minorities are most likely where a political figure ... can rely upon electorate inertia fostered by the hopelessness of encountering a seemingly invincible political machine." State ex rel Maloney v. McCartney, 159 W.Va. 513, 223 S.E.2d 607, 612 (1976).

144 F. 3d at 921-23 (headnotes and footnotes omitted.)

This Court's findings of language clarity and unambiguity here fly in the face of Ray's claim that voters might not have approved the proposal had they known that congressional officers would be stricken from the amendment's coverage. The Supreme Court's findings as to ballot clarity, coupled with the overwhelming vote in favor of the proposal, demonstrate that the voters knew exactly what they were voting for.

Moreover, the affidavit of Marta Hummel, Research Director, U. S. Term Limits, attached to the Motion for Summary Judgment (R-187), debunks the mythical claim here that voters would not have approved limits on the terms of state officials had they known then that such limits for congressional offices would be stricken by the United States Supreme Court.

As the Hummel affidavit demonstrates, the average approval vote for federal term limits is 65.4%; the average approval vote for state legislative term limits is 66.5%; and the average approval vote for combined initiatives is 65.4%. The demonstrated consistency of voter patterns belies Ray's bare voter confusion claim.

Against this factual backdrop, it strains the commands of logic to aver that ballot language which the Florida Supreme Court said was as clear as a bell when the voters approved it by 80% of the total vote, somehow became vague, ambiguous and confusing the day the United States Supreme Court decided <u>U. S. Term Limits</u>. In

reality, there is nothing vague, ambiguous or confusing about the specific, concrete offices set out in Art. IV, Sec. 4(b) (1)-(4), and the prohibition against certain incumbents from having their names appear on the ballot.⁴

Despite the overwhelming vote for the term limits provision, and the fact that the voters knew each of the offices affected by the proposal, Ray continues to make the argument that (1) the intent of the voters is irrevocably destroyed by the removal of Congressional offices, and (2) it cannot be said that the voters would have approved the proposal had they known that Congressional offices would not forever be included.

Remarkably, Ray divines the voters' intent without offering any evidence from any voter to support these assertions. Ray's efforts to shift the burden of proof is clear evidence of his failure to meet his burden of proof and most graphically demonstrates the fatal flaw in his arguments.

Ray's flawed arguments further fail to evince a comprehension of the profound impact his claims have on voters throughout the state. In essence, what Ray seeks is the jettisoning of an election amending the Florida Constitution without even

⁴Of course, as previously noted, unlike some of the term limits provisions already validated by courts throughout the nation, Florida's provision does not prohibit incumbent candidates from running as write-in candidates. Thus, if Ray truly wants to support his incumbent senator, the write-in mechanism is readily available to him.

having to prove what is necessary to make out an election contest claim under Sec. 102.168, Fla. Stat. To successfully contest an election, a plaintiff must, within an extremely limited time frame, show fraud, and that the fraud was so pervasive as to demonstrate a reasonable probability that, but for this widespread fraud, the results would have been changed. Smith v. Tynes, 412 So. 2d 925 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). The reason for the fast-tracking of such a case is to give paramount significance to the will of the people as expressed by their vote. Id.

(Parenthetically, even if Ray were to have pressed his case under <u>Smith v.</u> <u>Tynes</u>, he would have to show that more than 1.25 million voters may well have been defrauded and would have voted against the amendment had they known then what they know now. Needless to say, parading voters before the trial court to make out such a claim would have been quite an enterprise; the point here is that Ray fails to state a cause of action under any credible, cognizable theory.)

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, Ray wants the election--- conducted almost six years ago---set aside without even alleging fraud. This he cannot do.⁵

⁵To further demonstrate the extraordinary relief Ray seeks here, even a chapter law passed by the Legislature is no longer subject to a single subject violation challenge under Art. III, Sec. 6 of the Florida Constitution, once reenacted as a part of the Florida Statutes. <u>State v. Johnson</u>, 616 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1993), <u>reh. denied</u>. Ray does not even accord a constitutional provision adopted by the people the same dignity as a law with a single subject defect. And he seeks to strike a provision of organic law without even meeting the stringent standard for an election contest.

As to Ray's reliance on the doctrine of severability, this judicially created doctrine, <u>49 Fla. Jur. 2d</u>, Statutes, Sec. 98, applies to acts of the legislature; neither any party nor the trial court is aware of any case in which a Florida constitutional provision was challenged and stricken based on severability. And for a good reason: such a challenge cannot be made.

In essence, Ray is asking this Court to declare a provision of the Florida Constitution unconstitutional. To accomplish this, Ray must prove that the subject provision violates the United States Constitution. See 10 Fla. Jur. 2d, Constitutional Law, Secs. 2-3, 18-19, discussing the supremacy of the Florida Constitution and its relationship with the federal constitution. Ray cannot succeed by alleging that a provision of the state constitution violates a principle (severability) established by the state courts to address acts of the state legislature that violate the state constitution. Severability is not a cognizable claim when directed at a constitutional provision, for it is axiomatic that the Florida Constitution cannot be in violation of itself.

As previously demonstrated, this Court already has found the language to be clear and unambiguous, and therefore free from actionable voter confusion. Accordingly, even if Ray's claim were cognizable under Florida law, it would be barred by the doctrine of stare decisis. In <u>Putnam County School Board v. Debose</u>, 667 So. 2d 447 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), the court held that under this doctrine, lower

courts are bound to adhere to rulings of higher courts when considering similar issues. Against this backdrop, this Court is now being asked to find a lack of clarity and ambiguity to such an extent that the voters did not know what they were approving, and thereby conclude in a manner contrary to that of this same Court several years ago! The realization of what Ray seeks would turn state constitutional jurisprudence on its ear.

The reason for this is self-evident. This Court is being asked to sit in judgment of this Court's determination that the amendment's wording is as clear as a bell. In an effort to avoid the import of the Supreme Court's previous decision, Ray contends that the only thing the Supreme Court did is find that the language passed single-subject muster; it did not address a vagueness claim. But a single-subject determination is a declaration as to language clarity. The Supreme Court has declared the challenged language sufficiently clear to be presented to the voters. It strains credulity to maintain that what was clear when the voters cast their ballots is now vague, ambiguous and confusing solely because of the <u>U.S. Term Limits</u> decision three years later. Ray's demand that this Court sit in judgment of itself and reverse its earlier view on the clarity of the same language then before it should be summarily rejected.

Although severability has never been applied to a Florida constitutional

provisions, even if this doctrine were to be applied to constitutional provisions adopted by initiative, it would not apply in the case at bar under the doctrine's principles as applied to statutes.

As thus applied, it is well-established that "(w)hen a part of a statute is declared unconstitutional, the remainder will stand provided:

- 1) the unconstitutional provisions can be separated from the remaining valid provisions,
- 2) the legislative purpose expressed in the valid provisions can be accomplished independently of those which are void,
- 3) the good and bad features are not so inseparable in substance that it can be said that the Legislature would have passed the one without the other, and
- 4) the act complete in itself remains after the invalid portions are stricken."

Cramp v. Board of Public Instruction of Orange County, 137 So. 2d 828, 830 (Fla. 1962); State v. Tirohn, 556 So. 2d 447, 449 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). See also Waldrup v. Dugger, 562 So. 2d 687, 693 (Fla. 1990) and State v. Physical Therapy Rehabilitation Center of Coral Gables, 665 So. 2d 1127 (Fla. St. DCA 1996).

Because the challenge here is not to a statute, but a constitutional provision

⁶This is easily accomplished by simply deleting subsections (5) and (6) of Art. VI, Sec. 4(b).

born of the initiative process, a claim as to severability must take into account the critical fact that Ray's claim is directed to a vote of the statewide citizenry. It is axiomatic that the right to vote is among the most fundamental of constitutional guarantees, see Jones v. Kirkman, 138 So. 2d 513, 516 (Fla. 1962), State ex rel. McLeod v. Harvey, 170 So. 153, 166 (Fla. 1936); Nelson v. Robinson, 301 So. 2d 508, 511 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974). Also fundamental is the constitutional right for people to petition their government. Art. I, Sec. 5. Krivanek v. Take Back Tampa Political Committee, 603 So. 2d 528, 531 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992). The initiative process impacts both fundamental rights. Ray's complaint seeks to undo the will of the voters at the polls, and the citizens' right to petition government to address grievances, solely because the nation's highest court found conflict with the federal constitution's Qualifications Clause as to state-imposed term limits on congressional incumbents. Neither the federal nor Florida Constitution sanctions throwing out the baby with the bath water.

In recognition of this Court's finding that the term limits provision is clear, and the overwhelming vote in favor of the constitutional amendment, Ray cannot make out a severability claim even if one could be asserted so as to defeat the will of the voters who approved the measure, and the citizens who petitioned their government to address grievances.

B. Ray's equal protection argument, and its offshoots, lack merit.

For his final argument, Ray represents that the term limits provision violates equal protection because urban voters and rural voters are treated in a disparate manner in that there is some vote dilution as a result of the election process affecting the terms served by senators in odd-numbered districts and the terms served by senators in even-numbered districts. Of course, what Ray is actually challenging here is the constitutionality of Art. III, Sec. 15(a), Fla. Const. 1968, which specifically provides for this type of election system for state senators. Although this argument attacking this provision was not raised below, it nevertheless demonstrates the weakness of Ray's challenge to the term limits provision.

Simply stated, Florida can provide for the election of its senators in the chosen manner without violating any federal constitutional principle. Only where reapportionment and truncation come into play is a federal question presented. See In re Apportionment Law, etc., 414 So. 2d 1040, 1047-48 (Fla. 1982). As to a deprivation of Ray's right to vote and associate with candidates of their choice, the same claim could be made with regard to voting for the President of the United States, whose term is limited by the 22nd Amendment to the United States Constitution, as well as Florida's Governor, members of the Florida Cabinet, and state judges, whose terms are limited as described above.

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